IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MM DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, INC., D/B/A PLANET 13, a Nevada Corporation,

Appellant,

VS.

TRYKE COMPANIES SO NV, LLC, A Nevada Limited Liability Company,

Respondent.

Case No. 81938 Electronically Filed Mar 25 2021 02:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

KEMP JONES, LLP Will Kemp, Esq. (#1205) Nathanael R. Rulis, Esq. (#11259) Ian P. McGinn, Esq. (#12818) Christopher W. Mixson, Esq. (#10685) 3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, 17th Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 Telephone: (702) 385-6000 n.rulis@kempjones.com i.mcginn@kempjones.com c.mixson@kempjones.com *Attorneys for Appellant MM Development Company, Inc.*

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over MM Development's appeal from the district court's September 10, 2020, Order Granting Preliminary Injunction pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. (NRAP) 3A(b)(3). Pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1), MM Development timely filed its Notice of Appeal from the district court on October 9, 2020, within thirty days of the September 11, 2020, Notice of Entry of the Order Granting Preliminary Injunction.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court because it raises a question of statewide public importance pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12). This appeal raises for the first time the question whether a retail business enterprise in Nevada that participates in the widely-accepted practice of compensating drivers for bringing retail customers to the business's retail store is guilty of diversion, intentional interference with prospective contractual advantage, civil conspiracy, and aiding and abetting when the driver is operating through a rideshare company, even though it is decidedly not liable for the same tort(s) when the driver is operating a traditional taxi. Although this is an interlocutory appeal from the grant of a preliminary injunction, the district court erroneously determined that the Respondent is likely to prevail on the merits of its case.

Otherwise, this case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(12) because it challenges the grant of injunctive relief.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the district court erred in issuing a preliminary injunction on the ground that Respondent Tryke Companies SO NV, LLC ("Tryke") is likely to prevail on the merits of its claims that MM Development's participation in the widespread and legal practice of compensating drivers for bringing passengers to MM Development's retail place of business constitutes unlawful diversion, intentional interference with prospective contractual advantage, civil conspiracy, and aiding and abetting.

2. Whether the district court erred by finding Tryke is threatened with irreparable harm.

3. Whether the district court erred by failing to hold an evidentiary hearing to take testimony and documentary evidence before issuing a preliminary injunction.

4. Whether the terms of the preliminary injunction are overly-broad as applied to MM Development and overly-narrow because they only apply to MM Development.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying matter for which the parties are still conducting discovery is essentially a competitive business dispute between retail cannabis dispensaries in Las Vegas. MM Development owns and operates the Planet 13 dispensary, and Tryke owns and operates the Reef dispensary. At Planet 13, MM Development has a program for compensating taxi and rideshare drivers for bringing passengers to Planet 13, a legal practice that is widely used throughout the Las Vegas valley and much of the State of Nevada. Despite the legality of such compensation, and without evidence to support its allegations, Tryke alleges that MM Development's program for Planet 13 is specifically designed and intended to harm Tryke's retail

operations at the nearby Reef dispensary, and is therefore unlawful "diversion" of Reef's customers as that term is defined in NRS 706A.280(2).

Tryke's October 5, 2019, Complaint names MM Development and multiple Doe and Roe Defendants, alleging claims for civil conspiracy, aiding and abetting, and intentional interference with economic advantage, all of which is based on Tryke's theory that MM Development's practice of compensating rideshare drivers for delivering passengers to Planet 13 is intentionally designed to induce rideshare drivers to unlawfully divert Reef's customers. Appx. 01.¹ On December 6, 2019, MM Development filed a Motion to Dismiss, which the Court denied on March 25, 2020. Appx. 13, 73. MM Development sought reconsideration of the order denying dismissal on April 8, 2020 (Appx. 77), and filed its Answer to Tryke's Complaint on April 15, 2020 (Appx. 83). By Minute Order on May 7, 2020, the district court verbally denied MM Development's motion for reconsideration of the order denying its motion to dismiss (Appx. 103), which was followed by a written order (Appx. 105).

Nearly a year after filing its Complaint, Tryke filed an "Emergency" Motion for Preliminary Injunction, including an application for an order shortening time. Appx. 108. The Court granted the application for an order shortening time, giving MM Development only three (3) days to gather evidence and prepare its written opposition to the Motion for Preliminary Injunction. Appx. 111. MM Development filed its Opposition to the Motion for Preliminary Injunction on

¹ Filed concurrently with this Opening Brief is a 3-volume Appellant's Appendix. Pursuant to NRAP 30(a), undersigned counsel conferred with counsel for Respondent regarding the potential to provide a joint appendix, and although Respondent's counsel did not request the addition of any documents to the appendix, he also did not agree to the submission of the joint appendix as proposed by Appellant.

August 28, 2020 (Appx. 384), and Tryke filed its Reply on September 1, 2020 (Appx. 479). The Court held a hearing on the Motion for Preliminary Injunction on September 3, 2020 (Appx. 497), where it verbally granted the Motion and directed Tryke's counsel to prepare and file a written order. The written Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law and Order Granting Preliminary Injunction was filed on September 10, 2020, and entered on September 11, 2020. Appx. 518, 538.

Thereafter, MM Development filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the preliminary injunction on September 25, 2020 (Appx. 542), followed by its Notice of Appeal (Appx. 579) and Case Appeal Statement on October 9, 2020 (Appx. 569). Tryke filed an Opposition to the Motion for Reconsideration on October 9, 2020 (Appx. 596), and the district court denied the Motion for Reconsideration by Minute Order on October 23, 2020 (Appx. 614), followed by a written Order on November 7, 2020 (Appx. 616).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent Tryke owns and operates the Reef retail marijuana dispensary in Las Vegas, Nevada. Appx. 519. Appellant MM Development owns and operates two dispensaries, Medizin and the Planet 13 retail marijuana dispensary, both of which are in Las Vegas, Nevada. *Id*. The Reef dispensary and the Planet 13 dispensary are situated across the street from each other. Therefore, Tryke and MM Development are retail business competitors. Planet 13, however, has repeatedly been recognized as the best dispensary in Las Vegas and Nevada. Planet 13 received multiple honors recognizing its award-winning cannabis dispensary operations, including the following: in 2018, Planet 13 was given the Best Overall Dispensary in Nevada award; in 2019, Planet 13 was given as the 2019 US Market Leader Retail Award, 2019 Best Budtender Choice Award, and the 2019 Clio Best Brand Design; and on August 13, 2020, Planet 13 was named

All-Time Best Dispensary of Vegas. Appx. 399-401.

As part of being the best dispensary in Nevada and the "All-Time Best Dispensary of Vegas", Planet 13 operates a program whereby it compensates both taxi cab and independent rideshare drivers for dropping off passengers at Planet 13 (the "Driver Compensation Program"). *See, e.g.*, Appx. 393. There is nothing novel, and certainly nothing illegal, about the Driver Compensation Program, as demonstrated by its ubiquity as a practice throughout the Las Vegas valley, and the State of Nevada. *Id*.

Nearly ten months after filing its complaint, on August 24, 2020, Tryke filed its motion for a preliminary injunction seeking to enjoin Planet 13—and only Planet 13—from operating its Driver Compensation Program. Appx. 108. Tryke's motion included the supporting declaration of Adam Laiken, to which approximately 33 discrete exhibits were attached, consisting primarily of the cherry-picked evidence from a "secret shopper investigation" conducted for Tryke by a third party. Appx. 136.² With its motion, Tryke also made a request for an order shortening the time period for MM Development to respond to the motion, which the district court granted. Appx. 111. The district court provided MM Development with three (3) business days to gather evidence and file an opposition to Tryke's motion for a preliminary injunction, the district court cut off MM Development's counsel's legal argument and did not allow counsel to argue his full opposition to the motion. *See* Transc., Appx. 500–505.

² Tryke's exhibits did not appear to include the entirety of its secret shopper investigation, and to date, Planet 13 has reason to believe Tryke has not disclosed the entirety of the evidence compiled by its "secret shopper" investigator.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court abused its discretion in issuing the preliminary injunction because Tryke failed to satisfy the requisite criteria. Tryke did not demonstrate that it is substantially likely to prevail on the merits of its claims because that cause of action can only be brought against rideshare drivers by the Nevada Transportation Authority—not against MM Development and not by Tryke. There is no private cause of action for diversion in Nevada. Tryke also did not satisfy the elements of intentional interference with contractual relations, which is fatal to both that claim and the related claims of civil conspiracy and aiding and abetting.

The district court also abused its discretion by failing to hold an evidentiary hearing prior to issuing the preliminary injunction and by refusing to allow sufficient time for MM Development to gather evidence, file its written opposition, or argue at the hearing. And the district court abused its discretion because the scope of the injunction is both overly broad as applied to MM Development, and overly narrow because it does not apply to any other retail cannabis dispensary in Las Vegas that also operates a driver compensation program.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRONEOUSLY ISSUED THE PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION BECAUSE TRYKE IS NOT LIKELY TO PREVAIL ON THE MERITS OF ITS CLAIMS AND BECAUSE TRYKE IS NOT THREATENED WITH IRREPARABLE HARM.

A. Standard of Review

Issuance of the extraordinary remedy of injunctive relief is appropriate only when: (i) the moving party shows a reasonable likelihood of success on the merits; and (ii) irreparable harm will be sustained by the moving party if the requested injunction is not issued. *Pickett v. Camanche Constr., Inc.*, 108 Nev. 422, 426, 836

P.2d 42, 44 (1992); *Number One Rent-A-Car v. Ramada Inns, Inc.*, 94 Nev. 779, 780–81, 587 P.2d 1329, 1330 (1978); *see also* NRS 33.010. "Where, as here, a party seeks a mandatory preliminary injunction, forcing another party to take action that goes beyond maintaining the status quo, such relief is subject to heightened scrutiny and the injunction requested should not be issued unless the facts and law clearly favor the moving party." *Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. County of Clark*, 125 F. Supp. 2d 420, 424 (D. Nev. 1999) (citation omitted); *see also Mustafa v. Clark County Sch. Dist.*, 876 F. Supp. 1177, 1183 (D. Nev. 1995) ("Mandatory injunctions are not granted unless extreme or very serious damage will result and are not issued in doubtful cases.") (citation omitted).

The burden of proof rests with the movant. *Hospitality International Group v. Gratitude Group, LLC*, 132 Nev. 980, *2 (2016) (unpublished) ("The moving party bears the burden of providing testimony, exhibits, or documentary evidence to support its request for an injunction."); *see also id.* ("[e]vidence that goes beyond the unverified allegations of the pleadings and motion papers must be presented.") (quoting 11A Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary Kay Kane, *Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil*, 2949, at 237 (2013)).

B. Tryke Is Not Likely to Prevail on the Merits of Its Claims

Tryke's complaint sets forth claims for diversion, tortious interference with prospective economic relations, civil conspiracy, and aiding and abetting. Appx. 01–12. Tryke claims that MM Development has committed these torts simply because of MM Development's Driver Compensation Program. Interestingly, Tryke's complaint does not allege that the Driver Compensation Program itself is illegal—the claim is that by operating the legal Driver Compensation Program, MM Development is conspiring with unidentified rideshare drivers and aiding and abetting those drivers' illegal diversion of customers from Reef to Planet 13, which

Tryke argues amounts to intentional interference with prospective economic advantage. But because the Driver Compensation Program is not itself contrary to law, there can be no such conspiracy and likewise no aiding and abetting. And because MM Development cannot possibly be aware of any potential contractual relationship between rideshare passengers and Reef, it cannot have the requisite intent to support Tryke's claim of *intentional* interference with prospective economic relations.

1. Tryke Cannot Prevail on Its 'Diversion' Allegation Against MM Development

First, the relevant statutes and regulations simply prohibit *drivers* from "diverting" passengers, defined in statute as "convey[ing] or attempt[ing] to convey any passenger to a destination other than one directed by the passenger." NRS 706A.280(2)(b); *see also* NAC 706.552(1) (prohibiting drivers of both taxi cabs and rideshare companies from "diverting or attempting to divert a prospective customer from any commercial establishment," or from accepting compensation for doing so). There is, of course, no law or regulation that prohibits a passenger from choosing her destination, or from changing her destination once she is in a taxi or rideshare. Nor is there any law or regulation that prohibits any retail business in Nevada from compensating drivers who bring passengers to their place of business.

The practice of compensating taxi and rideshare drivers for bringing passengers to places of business is ubiquitous—and legal—in Nevada. Indeed, not only do dispensaries tip taxicab, Uber, and Lyft drivers, but many other businesses such as nightclubs, casinos, attorneys, and restaurants do as well. *See, e.g.,* Michael Squires, *Taxicab Authority Repeals Tip Law*, Las Vegas Review-Journal, June 25, 2002 (Appx. 408); *see also* Adrienne Packer, *County Backs Away From*

Cabby Tipping Law, Las Vegas Review-Journal, Dec. 21, 2005 (Appx. 411). Some businesses offer cash, others offer rewards such as free food and drink tickets, free coffee and even free traffic ticket representation. *Id*.

In recognition of this reality, over 15 years ago the Governor of Nevada vetoed Assembly Bill 505, amid mass protests by taxicab drivers across the state, because Section 133 of that bill banned taxicab driver gratuities. Appx. 415. The Governor vetoed Assembly Bill 505 because, among other things, "it singles out and hurts the financial well-being of taxicab drivers." *Id*.

Following the Governor's absolute refusal to ban such behavior, on March 28, 2006, the Clark County Liquor and Gaming Licensing Board followed suit and voted to repeal County Ordinance 8.20.297, in its entirety. This ordinance, for the brief time of its existence, made it unlawful for any liquor licensee "to pay any tip, gift, or gratuity of any kind to any taxicab driver for the delivery of any passenger to the business location of the licensee." Appx. 418. The Clark County Commission, in repealing County Ordinance 8.20.297, clearly indicated its intention—just like that of the former Governor—to permit the practice of compensating drivers for delivery of passengers to businesses in Nevada. "Commissioners agreed that the issue is one that can be sorted out by the free market. If businesses want to pay the drivers, the government shouldn't interfere." Appx. 412.

Notably, in 2002, the Nevada Taxicab Authority specifically repealed a regulation that banned taxicab drivers from accepting gratuities from anyone other than their employer or a passenger. Appx. 408. The Nevada Taxicab Authority did so even with the clear understanding that diversion may happen. When the Nevada Taxicab Authority repealed that regulation in 2002, then-administrator John Plunket said, "[w]e will monitor diversions and if we see it increase, we'll be out there to enforce the law. *But you just can't stop people from taking tips.*" *Id*.

(emphasis added). Explaining driver compensation programs for taxicab drivers, then-administrator John Plunket went further: "For 30 years they've been accepting gratuities. It's almost like part of their salary." Appx. 409. That was two decades ago, meaning compensating drivers for delivering passengers is now a half-century Nevada tradition and practice.

Presently, no state or county law prohibits the tipping of taxicab, Uber, or Lyft drivers nor is there any law prohibiting taxicab, Uber, or Lyft drivers from accepting tips. Therefore, the underlying allegation of all of Tryke's claims against MM Development—that Planet 13's Driver Compensation Program is an unlawful diversion program—is without merit.

2. Tryke Cannot Prevail on Its Claim for Intentional Interference with Economic Advantage

Tryke is not likely to prevail on its claim for intentional interference with economic advantage because it cannot satisfy the mandatory elements for that cause of action. A claim for intentional interference with economic advantage, Tryke must prove the following elements:

- (1) a prospective contractual relationship between the itself and a third party;
- (2) knowledge by MM Development of the prospective contractual relationship;
- (3) MM Development had intent to harm Tryke by preventing the contractual relationship;
- (4) the absence of a privilege or justification by MM Development; and
- (5) actual harm to Tryke as a result of MM Development's conduct.

Wichinsky v. Mosa, 109 Nev. 84, 88, 847 P.2d 727, 729-30 (1993); Consolidated Generator-Nev., Inc. v. Cummins Engine Co., 114 Nev. 1304, 1311, 971 P.2d 1251, 1255 (1998) (same).

Here, the district court erred in finding that Tryke was likely to succeed on

the merits of its intentional interference claim because Tryke cannot satisfy the necessary elements of that cause of action. First, there is no prospective *contractual* relationship at issue because a simple retail transaction for the purchase of legal cannabis products does not involve a contractual relationship, and Tryke provided no authority to the contrary. In its complaint, Tryke makes the summary claim that it has a prospective contractual relationship with passengers who may have requested to be driven to Reef. Appx. 11. A potential retail transaction, of course, does not rise to the level of a prospective contractual relationship. *See Crockett v. Sahara Realty Corp.*, 95 Nev. 197, 199, 591 P.2d 1135, 1136 (1979) (refusing to find tortious interference with prospective contractual relationship from the alleged loss of an anticipated commission from a sales transaction); *id.* ("all vendees are potential buyers of the products and services of all sellers in a given line, and success goes to him who is able to induce potential customers not to deal with a competitor").

Furthermore, this Court has made clear that competition in the marketplace is a privilege that destroys a claim for interference with prospective contractual relations. *Crockett*, 95 Nev. at 199 ("Perhaps the most significant privilege or justification for interference with prospective business advantage is free competition. Ours is a competitive economy in which business entities vie for economic advantage."). Here, given the ubiquity of driver compensation programs throughout Las Vegas in almost every nook and cranny of the service economy which is the economic engine of the State of Nevada, there is simply no legal support for Tryke's claim that MM Development's—and *only* MM Development's—Driver Compensation Program is not a privileged business activity that defeats Tryke's claim for intentional interference with prospective contractual relations with retail cannabis dispensary customers.

Even if Tryke's retail transactions are deemed sufficiently contractual in

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