IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MM DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, INC., D/B/A PLANET 13, a Nevada Corporation,

Appellant,

vs.

TRYKE COMPANIES SO NV, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No: 81938

Electronically Filed May 24 2021 01:43 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENT TRYKE COMPANIES SO NV, LLC'S ANSWERING BRIEF

H1 LAW GROUP

Eric D. Hone (NV Bar No. 8499) Joel Z. Schwarz (NV Bar No. 9181) Leslie A. S. Godfrey (NV Bar No. 10229) 701 North Green Valley Parkway, Suite 200 Henderson, NV 89074 Tel: 702-608-3720 Fax: 702-703-1063

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

⁸ MM Development instead cites federal court dicta.

customers that would be impacted when the purpose of its scheme was to divert as many of those prospective customers as possible. If anything, MM Development's position shows precisely why an injunction was necessary and why the District Court correctly determined that Tryke is likely to succeed on the merits of its IIPBA claim.

4. Tryke is Likely to Succeed on the Merits of its Civil Conspiracy and Aiding and Abetting Claims

An actionable civil conspiracy "consists of a combination of two or more persons who, by some concerted action, intend to accomplish an unlawful objective for the purpose of harming another, and damage results from the act or acts." Hilton Hotels v. Butch Lewis Productions, 109 Nev. 1043, 1048, 862 P.2d 1207, 1210 (1993) citing Sutherland v. Gross, 105 Nev. 192, 196, 772 P.2d 1287, 1290 (1989). The key phrase to consider is: "by some concerted action." Nevada's law on civil conspiracy does not require the underlying action to be wrongful, only that the intended result be wrongful. *Id.* Indeed, even what might be a lawful act (like "tipping" rideshare drivers) may become an actionable wrong when it is done with the intention of injuring another or when, although done to the benefit of the co-conspirators, its natural consequence is the oppression or harm of another. Hubbard Business Plaza v. Lincoln Liberty Life, 596 F. Supp. 344, 346 (D. Nev 1984).
MM Development contends Nevada law only allows the Nevada Transportation Authority to bring claims against rideshare drivers. (Opening Brief at 14.) MM Development does *not* argue diverting passenger traffic is legal, only that MM Development itself is immune from related claims simply because it is not a rideshare driver and Tryke is not the Nevada Transportation Authority.

This argument, of course, requires the Court to ignore the fact that MM Development is paying rideshare drivers to engage in illegal behavior, and the fact that it is MM Development who receives economic benefit from the illegal actions it has commissioned. Moreover, it does not matter if NRS 706A.280(2)(a) and (b) and NAC 706.552(1) do not apply to MM Development. It also does not matter if only the Nevada Transportation Authority can pursue rideshare drivers for violations of NRS 706A.280(2)(a) and (b) and NAC 706.552(1). To the extent MM Development and rideshare drivers act in concert to take Reef customers to Planet 13 instead, that action can form the basis of a civil conspiracy claim against MM Development.

MM Development also argues (again) that Tryke cannot connect MM Development's intention and awareness to the rideshare drivers' illegal behavior. There is ample evidence in the record, however, to establish MM Development intended its payment scheme to incentivize rideshare drivers to redirect customers from Reef to Planet 13. From the choice of Planet 13's location, to the

, to the open

rideshare driver community forum placing detailed discussion about strategies to accomplish illegal diversion, to MM Development's continued disregard for Tryke's express warnings, the evidence supports the District Court's decision.

B. The District Court Properly Concluded Tryke Was Suffering Irreparable Harm

Next, MM Development argues the Preliminary Injunction Order was improper because Tryke's evidence of irreparable harm was somehow insufficient. Specifically, while MM Development acknowledges loss of goodwill and client relationships is a harm difficult to calculate and redress with money damages alone, it argues Tryke failed to establish with admissible evidence that damage to its reputation is occurring. (Opening Brief at 17.) This argument fails for multiple reasons.⁹

Nevada Courts have recognized the difficulty in calculating money damages to redress the loss of client relationships that would produce an indeterminate amount of business. *See, e.g., Excellence Cmty. Mgmt. v. Gilmore*, 131 Nev. 347, 352, 351 P.3d 720, 724 (2015) (quoting *Ticor Title Ins. Co. v. Cohen*, 173 F.3d 63, 69 (2d Cir. 1999)). Acts committed without just cause which unreasonably interfere with a business or destroy its credit or profits may do an irreparable

⁹ As set forth in Section III (B), *infra*, MM Development's arguments regarding admissibility of evidence are entirely misplaced.

injury. State, Dep't of Bus. & Indus., Fin. Institutions Div. v. Nevada Ass'n Servs., Inc., 128 Nev. 362, 370, 294 P.3d 1223, 1228 (2012) (internal quotations omitted); see also Guion v. Terra Marketing of Nevada, Inc., 90 Nev. 237, 523 P.2d 847 (1974).

To demonstrate the damage occurring to its reputation and customer good will, Tryke submitted evidence that both real customers and secret shoppers had been harassed, lied to, and eventually diverted from their original destination – Reef Dispensary – by rideshare drivers who took them to Planet 13. To connect MM Development to these illegal diversions, Tryke submitted MM Development's own documents and admissions that it pays

Additionally, Tryke submitted chat strings on open public forums between rideshare drivers discussing strategies by which they have successfully caused, or might successfully cause, a passenger to change his/her destination and divert course specifically to Planet 13 so the drivers might collect the bounty offered by MM Development. This was more than sufficient evidence to support the District Court's ruling.

MM Development also argues Tryke did not produce admissible evidence to show how many Reef customers have been subject to these illegal diversions from which MM Development benefitted. With this, MM Development is far ahead of itself. "The purpose of a preliminary injunction is merely to preserve the relative positions of the parties until a trial on the merits can be held." *Univ. of Texas v. Camenisch*, 451 U.S. 390, 395, 101 S. Ct. 1830, 1834, 68 L. Ed. 2d 175 (1981). Tryke's preliminary injunction request only needed to be supported by evidence "reasonably substantial" such that the District Court, in its discretion, could determine Tryke was likely to succeed on the merits of its claims after discovery is complete. *Nelson v. Peckham Plaza Partnerships*, 110 Nev. 23, 25, 866 P.2d 1138 1139. Tryke met this burden.

III. THE SCOPE OF THE ORDER IS PROPER

MM Development argues the Preliminary Injunction Order is at the same time both overly broad and too narrow. But the language of the order was carefully crafted to only prohibit illegal behavior by MM Development:

1. Defendant Planet 13 is enjoined from paying any fee or commission to rideshare service drivers in exchange for the drivers bringing passengers to Planet 13 *rather than another cannabis dispensary*; and

2. Defendant Planet 13 is enjoined from advertising to rideshare service drivers that Planet 13 will provide compensation to drivers in exchange for the drivers bringing passengers to Planet 13 *rather than another cannabis dispensary*.

(Appx. 526, emphasis added.)

To this, MM Development says, "customers are entitled to change their mind enroute." While this may be true in the abstract, the key questions at play in this matter are: *why* are they changing their minds, and are they actually changing

their minds or simply giving in to the pressure exerted by drivers eager to cash in on a diversion? MM Development produced no evidence that rideshare passengers were spontaneously deciding to change their destination to Planet13 from the one they inserted into the rideshare app. Yet, there is plenty of evidence that rideshare drivers were badmouthing their selected destination (Reef) and cajoling passengers into "changing their minds" or just dropping them off at Planet 13 with no discussion whatsoever. MM Development could continue to pay Rideshare drivers for bringing customers to its facility – if those customers requested to go to Planet 13 in the first instance or if the customers did not choose any destination at all. MM Development simply cannot pay or offer to pay rideshare drivers for delivering customers who requested to go elsewhere (i.e., it can no longer solicit diversion).

MM Development also complains the Preliminary Injunction Order is overly narrow because it does not enjoin any other cannabis dispensary from making payments to rideshare drivers for illegal diversions. MM Development did not present evidence to the District Court of any other dispensary paying rideshare drivers to divert Reef customers, and Tryke's secret shopper program only turned up evidence of diversion to Planet 13 (at an astoundingly high rate). Since there was no evidence of kickbacks for the targeted diversion of Reef customers to anywhere other than Planet 13 (across the street, and thus an easy sell), there is no

reason for any other dispensary to be named as a party in the underlying district court action, let alone included in the Preliminary Injunction Order.

IV. MM DEVELOPMENT'S PROCEDURAL COMPLAINTS ARE WITHOUT MERIT

In addition to its unfounded arguments regarding the factual and legal bases for and the scope of the Preliminary Injunction Order, MM Development now raises baseless procedural quibbles. MM's untimely arguments contravene well established Nevada law and fail to establish an abuse of discretion by the District Court.

A. An Evidentiary Hearing Was Not Required

"A party...is not required to prove his case in full at a preliminaryinjunction hearing." *Univ. of Texas v. Camenisch*, 451 U.S. at 390, 395, 101 S. Ct. 1830, 1834, citing *Progress Development Corp. v. Mitchell*, 286 F.2d 222 (7th Cir. 1961). "Given [the] limited purpose [of preliminary injunction to preserve the relative positions of the parties], and given the haste that is often necessary if those positions are to be preserved, a preliminary injunction is customarily granted on the basis of procedures that are less formal and evidence that is less complete than in a trial on the merits. *Id.* "The urgency of obtaining a preliminary injunction necessitates a prompt determination and makes it difficult to obtain affidavits from persons who would be competent to testify at trial." *Marina Dist. Dev. Co., LLC v. AC Ocean Walk, LLC*, No. 220CV01592GMNBNW, 2020 WL 5502160, at *2 (D. Nev. Sept. 10, 2020) citing *Flynt Distrib. Co., Inc. v. Harvey*, 734 F.2d 1389, 1394 (9th Cir.1984) "The trial court may give even inadmissible evidence some weight, when to do so serves the purpose of preventing irreparable harm before trial." *Id.*

Further, a preliminary injunction may be granted upon affidavit. *Ross-Whitney Corp. v. Smith Kline & French Lab'ys*, 207 F.2d 190, 198 (9th Cir. 1953) "A requirement of oral testimony would in effect require a full hearing on the merits and would thus defeat one of the purposes of a preliminary injunction which is to give speedy relief from irreparable injury." Id. This process adequately protects litigants despite submissions of less than fully admissible evidence. *See id.*

In this case, the District Court held a hearing, but did not require live witness testimony. This was entirely within the District Court's discretion and a wise decision given the circumstances. First, MM Development had recently recommenced its payment scheme to rideshare drivers after COVID restrictions had eased. This "necessitated speedy adjudication of the issues." Requiring live testimony would only delay that outcome. Second, COVID cases continued to spike in Nevada in September 2020, which was the time of the hearing on Tryke's Motion for Preliminary Injunction. Coordinating the necessary courtroom space to accommodate an evidentiary hearing would have been a challenge, and entirely unnecessary. (*See* Appx. 505-508.)

///

To this, MM Development argues even if it was within the District Court's discretion to skip a full evidentiary hearing, it should not have done so in this case with facts "strongly disputed." This argument falls flat as well. While MM Development disputes the *source* of the facts (complaining they are within hearsay), it does not and cannot dispute the facts themselves; namely, that rideshare drivers diverted passengers, that rideshare drivers shared strategies on how to accomplish the diversions without alerting passengers to what was happening, and that MM Development made kickback payments to rideshare drivers knowing full well that a significant portion of the passengers were diverted to Planet 13. MM Development provided no contradictory evidence; rather it made legal arguments based upon the same evidence. (Id.) An argument regarding the legal implications of unrebutted evidence does not require an evidentiary hearing, and the District Court did not abuse its discretion in not engaging in what would have been a pointless exercise.

Moreover, despite there being no requirement therefore, if MM Development believed there to be cause for an evidentiary hearing, it had the obligation to raise that issue at the district court level. MM Development did not raise the issue or request an evidentiary hearing at all, thus it waived any right thereto, if any, or later argument therefor.

///

B. The Evidence Submitted by Tryke Is Not Hearsay, and Hearsay Evidence Is Permitted in Preliminary Injunction Proceedings in any Event

As touched on above, MM Development's procedural gripes include its contention the District Court improperly considered hearsay evidence.

But even if this evidence were hearsay, it is still properly a part of the record and properly could form a substantial basis for the District Court's decisionmaking. "A district court may consider hearsay in deciding whether to issue a preliminary injunction." *Johnson v. Couturier*, 572 F.3d 1067, 1083 (9th Cir. 2009); *Republic of the Philippines v. Marcos*, 862 F.2d 1355, 1363 (9th Cir.1988) (en banc); *See also Las Vegas Novelty, Inc. v. Fernandez*, 106 Nev. 113, 787 P.2d 772 (1990) (noting that NRCP 65 was drawn from an earlier version of FRCP 65, making it appropriate to look to federal cases and treatises in construing the NRCP rule.)

C. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Hearing Tryke's Motion for Preliminary Injunction on Shortened Time

Finally, MM Development contends that it only had three days to prepare its opposition to the motion for preliminary injunction. Notably, as demonstrated by the Court docket, there is no indication that MM Development ever required any additional time either to prepare its written response brief or to prepare for the hearing on Tryke's motion for preliminary injunction. Specifically, MM Development did not request that the Court extend either the filing deadline or that the hearing be continued to a later date.¹⁰

In addition to the above, it is worth noting that Tryke had a similarly abbreviated period to prepare and file its reply brief, which is not surprising since speedy adjudication is the nature of these proceedings.

Moreover, since MM Development believed its behavior was justified and relied almost exclusively on legal arguments to support its theories, there is no reason for this Court to conclude that a longer briefing schedule would have made ///

¹⁰ MM Development did request a one-day extension of the filing deadline from Tryke's counsel, who agreed to stipulate to the extension. Despite the agreement to the extension, however, MM Development filed its opposition brief by the original deadline.

any difference in the outcome before the District Court.¹¹ Thus, even if the District Court's decision to set the hearing on Tryke's motion for preliminary injunction on shortened time and abbreviating the briefing timeline was an abuse of discretion – Tryke maintains it was not - it was at most a harmless error given MM Development's open admission to the facts at bar. *Wyeth v. Rowatt*, 126 Nev. 446, 465, 244 P.3d 765, 778 (2010) (When an error is harmless, reversal is not warranted); *Cook v. Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center*, 124 Nev. 997, 1006-07, 194 P.3d 1214, 1219-20 (2008) (To establish that an error is prejudicial, the movant must show that the error affects the party's substantial rights so that, but for the alleged error, a different result might reasonably have been reached.)

V. CONCLUSION

The District Court granted Tryke's request for preliminary injunction based upon substantial evidence in the record, after undertaking all procedures required by Nevada law for entry of preliminary injunction, and without either abuse of discretion or clear error. In addition, the Preliminary Injunction Order is proper in scope, precluding only continued unlawful activity by MM Development during the pendency of the underlying action. As such, the Preliminary Injunction Order should be affirmed.

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